

Table of Contents

| 1. Introduction | 2 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| 2. Effects of lipid oxidation | 2 |
| 2a. Health, safety, and nutritive quality | 2 |
| 2b. Taste | |
| 2c. Oxidized frying oils in North America | 5 |
| | |
| 3. Factors affecting the quality of oil during frying | 5 |
| 3a. Type of oil | 6 |
| 3b. Type of food | 6 |
| 3c. Time and temperature | 7 |
| 3d. Replenishment of fresh oil | 8 |
| 3e. Type and maintenance of fryer | |
| 3f. Antioxidants | |
| 3g. Oxygen concentration. | |
| 3h. Implementing oil management plans and monitoring oil quality | |
| | - |
| 4. Conclusion | 10 |
| | |
| <u>References</u> | 10 |

1. Introduction

Frying involves a chain of "relatively unbridled chemical reactions" including lipid oxidation. Lipid oxidation is a complex degradation process between oxygen and unsaturated fats.² More unsaturated bonds result in more oxidation and concomitant changes in taste, aroma, color, safety, and nutritive value of oils.^{2–5} Oxidation of unsaturated oils is an important issue as the food industry implements food preparations, such as frying, that comply with legislation^{6,7} prohibiting the use of partially hydrogenated oils (PHO). Consumption of fried food is common in Canada⁸ and the United States⁹ with more than one-third of American adults consuming fast food, mostly fried, on any given day.⁹ The possibility of regular consumption of oxidized lipids from fried foods constitutes a potential public health concern.^{10–14} This brief review focuses on frying applications and includes a summary of lipid oxidation's potential effects on health and flavor, as well as strategies to curb lipid oxidation during frying.

2. Effects of lipid oxidation

Lipid oxidation is a complex chemical degradation process that involves a free radical chain reaction between unsaturated fats and oxygen.² Many interacting factors, such as high temperatures and type of oil, affect oxidation and, therefore, the shelf life of edible oil.^{1,2} Energy from the heat of cooking induces what is known as thermal oxidation, a more rapid and less understood degradation process than autoxidation.^{1,5} In addition, unsaturated oils are oxidized more quickly than less saturated oils.^{1,2,5} The combination of these two factors—high heat and relatively unstable oils used to replace PHOs—could negatively affect the safety, nutritive value, and flavor of commercially fried foods.

2a. Health, safety, and nutritive quality

Chemical end products from the oxidation of unsaturated oils are recognized as potentially harmful to humans. 12,15-18 The ingestion of lipid oxidation products, such as

malondialdehyde, triggers oxidative stress.^{19,20} The accumulation of oxidative stress is implicated in the development of myriad chronic diseases including atherosclerosis, neurodegenerative diseases (e.g., Alzheimer's and Parkinson's), diabetes mellitus, and cancer.^{21–25}

In particular, frying foods with oils rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) has been linked to potential adverse health effects. 10,26,27 For example, thermal oxidation of PUFA during frying generates aldehydes. 14,28,29 Certain aldehydes (e.g., trans-2,4-decadienal) are cytotoxic and genotoxic, causing damage to essential biomolecules such as DNA. 18,30 Over two dozen aldehydes, including trans-2,4-decadienal, were identified in soybean oil used to deep-fat fry wheat dough and chicken breast meat at 180°C.31 In addition, fried potato chip samples from seven out of 12 fast food restaurants (including samples from large chain outlets) in the United Kingdom contained potentially health-threatening levels of toxic aldehydes.¹⁴ While there was considerable "between-fast-food-restaurant-source variation," there was a significant, positive correlation between aldehyde concentrations in the chip samples and percent PUFA of the frying oil.¹⁴ Overall, this study demonstrates the possibility of consuming harmful lipid oxidation products through foods fried in PUFA-rich oil. Another study focused on exposure of acrolein, a well-researched genotoxic aldehyde. 32,33 In this study, researchers found that acrolein exposure through consumption of fried chicken and French fries from fast food restaurants negatively affects oral cavity homeostasis (i.e., buccal glutathione levels) which may increase the risk of upper aerodigestive tract cancers.³⁴

Another potential problem of thermal oxidation in frying processes is the production of *trans* fatty acids.^{5,13,35,36} The relative percentage of t*rans* isomers increased 2.5 fold (from 2.4% to 5.9%) in canola oil used to fry French fries at 215°C.³⁵ The researchers concluded that increasing frying temperatures above 195°C may annul the *trans* fat free claim for the fried product.³⁵ The production of *trans* fatty acids from thermal oxidation of unsaturated fats used to replace PHOs is an ironic potential consequence of legislation banning PHOs. More

importantly, as demonstrated by the substantial research driving that legislation, *trans* fatty acid consumption is associated with health ramifications,³⁷ such as coronary artery disease³⁸ and all-cause mortality.^{39,40} In addition to the production of *trans* fatty acids and aldehydes, thermal oxidation reduces oils' overall antioxidant properties,^{1,5,11} including concentrations of carotenoid, phenolic compounds, and vitamin E.¹³ This depletion of nutrients is yet another reason to curb thermal oxidation of cooking oils used for frying applications.

The potential implications of *consuming* thermally-oxidized cooking oils are not the only concern. Extensive research has demonstrated health risks of *inhaling* fumes from oxidized oil, as well.^{41–44} Fumes from heated peanut oil, soybean oil, and sunflower oil lead to cytotoxicity and oxidative DNA damage in human lung carcinoma (A-549) cells.^{41,42} Epidemiological research has demonstrated a dose-response relationship between cooking fume exposure and lung cancer.⁴⁴ Much of the research on oil fumes has been conducted among Chinese women using vegetable oils, such as rapeseed oil, and traditional Chinese cooking techniques, such as stir-frying and pan-frying.^{44,45} A recent review found a lack of data on exposures to oxidized oil fumes in North America and a need to investigate at-risk groups such as food service workers frying foods with vegetable oils in place of more stable PHO.⁴⁶

2b. Taste

Deep-fried flavor is an essential factor in the popularity of fried foods.⁴⁷ Deep-fat frying that yields the typical desirable fried flavor has been described as "one of the most dynamic processes in all of food processing." Even though deep-fat frying is common, the complexity and high number of variables involved make changes in the oil and fried food difficult to predict.^{1,5,48} An optimal concentration of oxygen is necessary to produce the fried flavor: too much oxygen produces off-flavors, and too little oxygen produces weak and poor flavors.⁵ During deep-fat frying, the oxidative degradation of linolenic acid increases fishy odor.⁴⁹ In addition, aldehydes produced during deep-fat frying exhibit oily, green, paint, metallic, and

beany flavors.⁴⁷ On the other hand, oxidation of linoleic acid may be more responsible for the typical deep-fried flavor.^{1,5} Balancing frying conditions to maximize deep-fried flavor while minimizing toxic lipid oxidation products is a critical challenge potentially affecting consumer acceptance and health.^{1,47}

2c. Oxidized frying oils in North America

Research conducted in Canada and the U.S. demonstrates the presence of oxidized oils in the North American food service. In-use and discarded samples of frying oil from six fast food restaurants in Toronto showed high levels of oxidation, including 35% of in-use samples and 50% of discarded samples having peroxide values considered to be rancid.⁵⁰ In this study, five of the restaurants used different brands of canola oil and one used hydrogenated vegetable oil. Relatedly, samples of French fries from six fast food restaurants in the Twin Cities, Minnesota contained 4-hydroxy-2-*trans*-nonenal, a toxic lipid oxidation product.⁵¹ Restaurants in this study did not report the type of oils used for frying. Notably, both studies were conducted before the implementation of legislation banning PHOs. Depending on the type of oils used to replace PHOs, the prevalence of oxidized oils and food items containing lipid oxidation products could be even higher because, as previously described, *cis* unsaturated fatty acids are relatively unstable and susceptible to rapid oxidation.^{2,11,27,52}

3. Factors affecting the quality of oil during frying

Maintaining the quality of unsaturated oils in frying applications is a complex challenge: A multitude of interacting factors influences a multitude of reactions which influences a multitude of outcomes.^{48,53} Furthermore, many factors such as temperature have a narrow range or window of optimization related to oxidation.^{1,5,47} In this section, we will outline factors and corresponding strategies for curbing oil oxidation during frying processes. Factors that affect the oxidation—and, therefore, quality and flavor—of oil during frying include the type of

oil used; food material being fried; frying time and temperature; replenishment of fresh oil; type of fryer; antioxidants; and oxygen concentration. 1,5,54

3a. Type of oil

In terms of fatty acid composition, oils rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids are the most vulnerable to oxidation, followed by oils rich in monounsaturated fatty acids. Oxidation is the most rapid in linolenic acids, followed by linoleic, and oleic acids.^{4,11,27,55} Olive oil^{1,13} and a novel PUFA-deplete monounsaturated algae frying oil¹⁴ are relatively resistant to thermal oxidation from frying processes. Methods to modify fatty acid composition of oils in the manufacturing process include fractionation, hydrogenation, interesterification, conventional seed breeding, genetic engineering, and blending oils; however, these methods may negatively impact nutrition, functionality, and consumer acceptance.¹ Overall, it is critical to carefully select oils used for frying and monitor oil quality through appropriate use application assessments (see section 3h).^{1,10,11,56}

3b. Type of food

In general, the presence of food—compared to heating oil without food—slows down thermal oxidation. The type of food, including the composition, shape, and size, is a complicated factor that affects lipid oxidation during frying.¹ Starch, high moisture content, unsaturated fat content, increased cross-sectional area (e.g., thin cut strips versus thick cut strips, rough surfaces versus smooth surfaces), and presence of transition metals (e.g., iron in meat products) accelerate thermo-oxidative degradation in frying oils.¹,5 In one study of six schools, carbohydrate-rich foods (e.g., sweet potato, dumpling, donut) fried in soybean oil produced lower levels of lipid oxidation products than vegetables, meat, and fish.⁵ Notably, the levels of lipid oxidation products were significantly different between schools even though the schools used the same oil type that was processed and stored in very similar conditions. This

variability demonstrates the complicated challenge of maintaining the quality of oils used for frying.

Related to types of food, various food preparation processes influence oxidation. The application of edible coatings or films to foods before frying may decrease the degradation of oil, but research findings are inconsistent.¹ Likewise, breading materials and batters have various influences on the stability of frying oil.¹ There appears to be an opportunity to develop functional coatings that enhance the thermo-oxidative stability of frying oil while maintaining the sensory attributes of fried foods.

3c. Time and Temperature

Frying time increases the thermo-oxidative degradation of oil.^{1,5,11} Even though frying is a fast cooking method, the length of time for which an oil is used is usually long, particularly in repeated frying processes in food service operations.¹ Repeatedly heated vegetable cooking oil generates toxic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons⁴⁵ and has higher peroxide values (i.e., indicative of increased oxidation) than singly-heated vegetable cooking oil.⁵⁸ It follows that one recommendation for curbing thermo-oxidative degradation of oil is to limit the number of reheats and avoid intermittent (i.e., discontinuous) heating and cooking of oils.^{5,55}

In addition to repeated or long frying times, high frying temperature accelerates lipid oxidation and the production of *trans* isomers.¹ For example, there is a statistically significant increase in the isomerization rate of linolenic acid when the temperature increases from 180°C to 200°C, irrespective of the type of oil.³⁶ Therefore, one important practice for controlling frying temperature is calibrating and ascertaining the correctness of fryers' temperature controllers.¹

3d. Replenishment of fresh oil

Multiple reviews report that the replenishment of fresh oil (i.e., maintaining a high ratio of fresh oil to total oil) is a crucial strategy for managing lipid oxidation during frying. ^{1,5}

However, there is a lack of specific recommendations for replenishing *cis* unsaturated oils during frying. One recommended daily turnover is 15-25% of the capacity of the fryer, but this general recommendation is from 1984, ⁵³ well before the legislation prohibiting PHOs.

3e. Type and maintenance of fryer

The characteristics and maintenance of the fryer influence oxidation. ^{1,5} For example, copper or iron fryers and polymerized fat deposited on fryers accelerate lipid thermal oxidation. In contrast, fryers with a small surface-to-volume ratio minimize the contact of oil to air, thereby slowing down oxidation. ⁵ Evidence-based selection of a fryer is a viable strategy for maintaining the quality of oil.

3f. Antioxidants

Endogenous and added antioxidants reduce oxidation of oils under storage conditions (i.e., room temperature).^{5,59} However, antioxidants are less effective in reducing oxidation under frying conditions, especially at high temperatures.^{1,5,60} See Wu et al.⁶⁰ for a review of the stabilizing capacity of various phenolic compounds (e.g., rosemary) in different frying conditions. During deep-fat frying, lignan compounds are more stable and effective antioxidants than tocopherols, butylated hydroxyanisole, butylated hydroxytoluene, propyl gallate, and tert-butylhydroquinone.⁵ Other promising antioxidant approaches include adding spinach powder or red ginseng extract to flour dough.⁵ Overall, the stability-enhancing capacity of antioxidants differs from one to another and can be complicated by both synergistic and antagonistic interactions.⁶⁰ Furthermore, above optimal concentrations and conditions, some antioxidants become pro-oxidative.¹ There appears to be an opportunity to design frying

antioxidants that are thermally stable; neutral or antioxidative rather than pro-oxidative; costeffective; feasible to implement in daily food service operations; safe; and appealing to
consumers.¹

3g. Oxygen concentration

Higher amounts of dissolved oxygen in the oil increase oxidation.^{1,5} Strategies to maintain the quality of frying oil by controlling accessibility to oxygen include nitrogen or carbon dioxide flushing. A minimum of 15 minutes of nitrogen or five minutes of carbon dioxide flushing prior to heating decreases the oxidation of oil during deep-fat frying.⁶¹ Another strategy to curb lipid oxidation during frying is to decrease the surface-to-volume ratio of oil (see section 3e).¹ Other strategies such as frying in a vacuum system and adding silicon are challenging to implement.¹

3h. Implementing oil management plans and monitoring oil quality

There is growing attention on the need to curb thermal oxidation of unsaturated oils used to replace PHOs in frying applications.^{1,10} However, there is a literature gap on the oil management practices of food service establishments in North America. Food service establishments should design and implement plans to maintain the quality of unsaturated oils used in frying processes.¹ Oil management plans should outline context-specific application conditions (e.g., heat, time, number of reheats) to reduce thermal oxidation. In addition, oil management plans should delineate procedures for monitoring oil quality. There is emergent research on the development of on-the-spot frying oil assessments, such as a portable capacitive sensor⁶² and a microfluidic assessment technique.⁶³ However, there appears to be no research on the implementation (e.g., practicability and adoption) of these frying oil monitoring techniques in real-world food service settings. Developing feasible, appropriate, and cost-effective monitoring techniques for daily use in typical food service settings is critical because

common laboratory assessments (e.g., measures of total polar compounds) are complex and time-consuming.⁵⁶

4. Conclusion

This review demonstrates the importance of raising awareness about potential unintended consequences of replacing PHOs with unsaturated oils that are susceptible to thermal oxidation in frying processes. Food service entities need to be aware that oxidized oils may lead to consumer and employee health risks, even more so if PHOs are replaced with PUFAs in frying processes. Complicated factors belie a streamlined, one-size-fits-all prescription for curbing thermal-oxidative degradation of oil. However, awareness of the constellation of factors that influence oil quality could guide the development of oil management plans for frying processes in specific contexts.

References

- 1. Aladedunye FA. Curbing thermo-oxidative degradation of frying oils: Current knowledge and challenges. *Eur J Lipid Sci Technol*. 2015;117(11):1867-1881. doi:10.1002/ejlt.201500047
- 2. Choe E, Min DB. Mechanisms and factors for edible oil oxidation. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf.* 2006;5(4):169-186. doi:10.1111/j.1541-4337.2006.00009.x
- 3. Kochhar SP, Henry CJK. Oxidative stability and shelf-life evaluation of selected culinary oils. *Int J Food Sci Nutr*. 2009;60(SUPPL. 7):289-296. doi:10.1080/09637480903103774
- 4. Maszewska M, Florowska A, Dłuzewska E, Wroniak M, Marciniak-Lukasiak K, Zbikowska A. Oxidative stability of selected edible oils. *Molecules*. 2018;23(7):15-17. doi:10.3390/molecules23071746
- 5. Choe E, Min DB. Chemistry of deep-fat frying oils. *J Food Sci.* 2007;72(5). doi:10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00352.x
- 6. U.S. Federal Drug Administration. Final Determination Regarding Partially Hydrogenated Oils (Removing Trans Fat). https://www.fda.gov/food/food-additives-petitions/final-determination-regarding-partially-hydrogenated-oils-removing-trans-fat. Published 2018. Accessed January 6, 2021.
- 7. Government of Canada. Notice of Modification: Prohibiting the Use of Partially Hydrogenated Oils in Foods. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/food-

- nutrition/public-involvement-partnerships/modification-prohibiting-use-partially-hydrogenated-oils-in-foods.html. Published 2018. Accessed January 6, 2021.
- 8. Black JL, Billette JM. Fast food intake in Canada: Differences among canadians with diverse demographic, socio-economic and lifestyle characteristics. *Can J Public Heal*. 2015;106(2):e52-e58. doi:10.17269/CJPH.106.4658
- 9. Fryar CD, Hughes JP, Herrick KA, Ahluwalia N. Fast Food Consumption Among Adults in the United States, 2013-2016. *NCHS Data Brief*. 2018;(322):1-8.
- 10. Grootveld M, Percival BC, Leenders J, Wilson PB. Potential adverse public health effects afforded by the ingestion of dietary lipid oxidation product toxins: Significance of fried food sources. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(4):1-50. doi:10.3390/nu12040974
- 11. Vieira SA, McClements DJ, Decker EA. Challenges of utilizing healthy fats in foods. *Adv Nutr.* 2015;6(3):309S-317S. doi:10.3945/an.114.006965
- 12. Estévez M, Li Z, Soladoye OP, Van-Hecke T. Health Risks of Food Oxidation. *Adv Food Nutr Res.* 2017;82:45-81. doi:10.1016/bs.afnr.2016.12.005
- 13. Falade AO, Oboh G, Okoh AI. Potential Health Implications of the Consumption of Thermally-Oxidized Cooking Oils A Review. *Polish J Food Nutr Sci.* 2017;67(2):95-105. doi:10.1515/pjfns-2016-0028
- 14. Moumtaz S, Percival BC, Parmar D, Grootveld KL, Jansson P, Grootveld M. Toxic aldehyde generation in and food uptake from culinary oils during frying practices: peroxidative resistance of a monounsaturate-rich algae oil. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):1-21. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-39767-1
- 15. Eder K, Ringseis R. Health aspects of oxidized dietary fats. *Oxid Foods Beverages Antioxid Appl Underst Mech Oxid Antioxid Act*. 2010:143-180. doi:10.1533/9780857090447.1.143
- 16. Awada M, Soulage CO, Meynier A, et al. Dietary oxidized n-3 PUFA induce oxidative stress and inflammation: Role of intestinal absorption of 4-HHE and reactivity in intestinal cells. *J Lipid Res.* 2012;53(10):2069-2080. doi:10.1194/jlr.M026179
- 17. Esterbauer H, Gebicki J, Puhl H, Jürgens G. The role of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in oxidative modification of LDL. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1992;13(4):341-390. doi:10.1016/0891-5849(92)90181-F
- 18. Eckl PM, Bresgen N. Genotoxicity of lipid oxidation compounds. *Free Radic Biol Med*. 2017;111:244-252.
- 19. Eckl PM, Bresgen N. Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of lipid-oxidation products. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2017;111(5):244-252. doi:10.1093/ajcn/57.5.779S
- 20. Papac-Milicevic N, Busch CJL, Binder CJ. Malondialdehyde Epitopes as Targets of Immunity and the Implications for Atherosclerosis. *Adv Immunol*. 2016;131:1-59. doi:10.1016/bs.ai.2016.02.001
- 21. Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MTD, Mazur M, Telser J. Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* 2007;39(1):44-84. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2006.07.001
- 22. Finkel T, Holbrook NJ. Oxidants, Oxidative Stress and Biology of Ageing. *Nature*. 2000;408(November):239-247. www.nature.com.

- 23. Manabe I. Chronic inflammation links cardiovascular, metabolic and renal diseases. *Circ J.* 2011;75(12):2739-2748. doi:10.1253/circj.CJ-11-1184
- 24. Moldogazieva NT, Mokhosoev IM, Mel'Nikova TI, Porozov YB, Terentiev AA. Oxidative Stress and Advanced Lipoxidation and Glycation End Products (ALEs and AGEs) in Aging and Age-Related Diseases. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*. 2019;2019. doi:10.1155/2019/3085756
- 25. Binder CJ, Papac-Milicevic N, Witztum JL. Innate sensing of oxidation-specific epitopes in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2016;16(8):485-497. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.63
- 26. Grootveld M, Percival BC, Grootveld KL. Chronic non-communicable disease risks presented by lipid oxidation products in fried foods. *HepatoBiliary Surg Nutr*. 2018;7(4):305-312. doi:10.21037/hbsn.2018.04.01
- 27. Jackson V, Penumetcha M. Dietary oxidised lipids, health consequences and novel food technologies that thwart food lipid oxidation: an update. *Int J Food Sci Technol*. 2019;54(6):1981-1988. doi:10.1111/ijfs.14058
- 28. Claxson AW, Hawkes GE, Richardson DP, et al. Generation of lipid peroxidation products in culinary oils and fats during episodes of thermal stressing: a high field H NMR study. *FEBS Lett.* 1994;355:81-90. doi:10.1042/bst025495s
- 29. Haywood RM, Claxson AWD, Hawkes GE, et al. Detection of Aldehydes and Their Conjugated Hydroperox Ydiene Precursors in Thermally-Stressed Culinary Oils and Fats: Investigations Using High Resolution Proton Nmr Spectroscopy. *Free Radic Res*. 1995;22(5):441-482. doi:10.3109/10715769509147552
- 30. Boskou G, Salta FN, Chiou A, Troullidou E, Andrikopoulos, Nikolaus K. Content of trans,trans-2,4-decadienal in deep-fried and pan-fried potatoes. *Eur J Lipid Sci Technol*. 2006;108(2):109-115.
- 31. Zhang Q, Qin W, Lin D, Shen Q, Saleh ASM. The changes in the volatile aldehydes formed during the deep-fat frying process. *J Food Sci Technol*. 2015;52(12):7683-7696. doi:10.1007/s13197-015-1923-z
- 32. Stevens JF, Maier CS. Acrolein: sources, metabolism, and biomolecular interactions relevant to human health and disease. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* 2008;52(1):7-25. doi:10.1002/mnfr.200700412
- 33. Eckl PM, Bresgen N. Concise International Chemical Assessment Document 43: Acrolein. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2017;111(43):244-252.
- 34. Wang TW, Liu JH, Tsou HH, Liu TY, Wang HT. Identification of acrolein metabolites in human buccal cells, blood, and urine after consumption of commercial fried food. *Food Sci Nutr.* 2019;7(5):1668-1676. doi:10.1002/fsn3.1001
- 35. Aladedunye FA, Przybylski R. Degradation and nutritional quality changes of oil during frying. *JAOCS*, *J Am Oil Chem Soc*. 2009;86(2):149-156. doi:10.1007/s11746-008-1328-5
- 36. Tsuzuki W, Matsuoka A, Ushida K. Formation of trans fatty acids in edible oils during the frying and heating process. *Food Chem.* 2001;41:133-154.
- 37. Lichtenstein AH, Ausman LM, Jalbert SM, Schaefer EJ. Effects of different forms of dietary hydrogenated fats on serum lipoprotein cholesterol levels. *N Engl J Med*. 1999;340(25):1933-1940.
- 38. Wang Q, Afshin A, Yakoob MY, et al. Impact of nonoptimal intakes of saturated,

- polyunsaturated, and trans fat on global burdens of coronary heart disease. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2016;5(1):1-23. doi:10.1161/JAHA.115.002891
- 39. Wang H, Naghavi M, Allen C, et al. Global, regional, and national life expectancy, all-cause mortality, and cause-specific mortality for 249 causes of death, 1980–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet*. 2016;388(10053):1459-1544. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31012-1
- 40. De Souza RJ, Mente A, Maroleanu A, et al. Intake of saturated and trans unsaturated fatty acids and risk of all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: Systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *BMJ*. 2015;351:1-16. doi:10.1136/bmj.h3978
- 41. Wu SC, Yen GC. Effects of cooking oil fumes on the genotoxicity and oxidative stress in human lung carcinoma (A-549) cells. *Toxicol Vitr*. 2004;18(5):571-580. doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2004.01.004
- 42. Dung CH, Wu SC, Yen GC. Genotoxicity and oxidative stress of the mutagenic compounds formed in fumes of heated soybean oil, sunflower oil and lard. *Toxicol Vitr*. 2006;20(4):439-447. doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2005.08.019
- 43. Tung YH, Ko JL, Liang YF, Yin L, Pu Y, Lin P. Cooking oil fume-induced cytokine expression and oxidative stress in human lung epithelial cells. *Environ Res*. 2001;87(1):47-54. doi:10.1006/enrs.2001.4272
- 44. Chen TY, Fang YH, Chen HL, et al. Impact of cooking oil fume exposure and fume extractor use on lung cancer risk in non-smoking Han Chinese women. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):1-10. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-63656-7
- 45. Ganesan K, Sukalingam K, Xu B. Impact of consumption of repeatedly heated cooking oils on the incidence of various cancers- A critical review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*. 2019;59(3):488-505. doi:10.1080/10408398.2017.1379470
- 46. Lee T, Gany F. Cooking oil fumes and lung cancer: A review of the literature in the context of the U.S. population. *J Immigr Minor Heal*. 2013;15(3):646-652. doi:10.1007/s10903-012-9651-1
- 47. Chang C, Wu G, Zhang H, Jin Q, Wang X. Deep-fried flavor: characteristics, formation mechanisms, and influencing factors. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*. 2020;60(9):1496-1514. doi:10.1080/10408398.2019.1575792
- 48. Dobarganes MC. Formation of New Compounds During Frying General Observations. *AOCS Lipid Libr*. https://lipidlibrary.aocs.org/chemistry/physics/frying-oils/formation-of-new-compounds-during-frying-general-observations.
- 49. Choe E. Roles and action mechanisms of herbs added to the emulsion on its lipid oxidation. *Food Sci Biotechnol*. 2020;29(9):1165-1179. doi:10.1007/s10068-020-00800-z
- 50. Sebastian A, Ghazani SM, Marangoni AG. Quality and safety of frying oils used in restaurants. *Food Res Int.* 2014;64:420-423. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2014.07.033
- 51. Csallany AS, Shoeman IHDW, Jieyao CC. 4 Hydroxynonenal (HNE), a Toxic Aldehyde in French Fries from Fast Food Restaurants. *J Am Oil Chem Soc*. 2015;92(10):1413-1419. doi:10.1007/s11746-015-2699-z
- 52. Negash YA, Amare DE, Bitew BD, Dagne H. Assessment of quality of edible vegetable oils

- accessed in Gondar City, Northwest Ethiopia. *BMC Res Notes*. 2019;12(1):1-5. doi:10.1186/s13104-019-4831-x
- 53. Stevenson SG, Vaisey-Genser M, Eskin NAM. Quality control in the use of deep frying oils. *J Am Oil Chem Soc.* 1984;61(6):1102-1108. doi:10.1007/BF02636232
- 54. Li X, Wu G, Yang F, et al. Influence of fried food and oil type on the distribution of polar compounds in discarded oil during restaurant deep frying. *Food Chem*. 2019;272(April 2018):12-17. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.08.023
- 55. Le Gresley A, Ampem G, Grootveld M, Percival BC, Naughton DP. Characterisation of peroxidation products arising from culinary oils exposed to continuous and discontinuous thermal degradation processes. *Food Funct*. 2019;10(12):7952-7966. doi:10.1039/c9f002065a
- 56. Liu Y, Sun L, Bai H, Ren Z. Detection for Frying Time of Various Edible Oils Based on Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. *Appl Sci.* 2020;10(7789).
- 57. Koh E, Surh J. Food types and frying frequency affect the lipid oxidation of deep frying oil for the preparation of school meals in Korea. *Food Chem.* 2015;174:467-472. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.11.087
- 58. Perumalla Venkata R, Subramanyam R. Evaluation of the deleterious health effects of consumption of repeatedly heated vegetable oil. *Toxicol Reports*. 2016;3:636-643. doi:10.1016/j.toxrep.2016.08.003
- 59. Shahidi F, Zhong Y. Lipid oxidation and improving the oxidative stability. *Chem Soc Rev.* 2010;39(11):4067-4079. doi:10.1039/b922183m
- 60. Wu G, Chang C, et al. Phenolic compounds as stabilizers of oils and antioxidative mechanisms under frying conditions: A comprehensive review. *Trends Food Sci Technol*. 2019;92(December 2018):33-45. doi:10.1016/j.tifs.2019.07.043
- 61. Przybylski R, Eskin N. A comparative study on the effectiveness of nitrogen or carbon dioxide flushing in preventing oxidation during the heating of oil. *J Am Oil Chem Soc.* 1988;65(4).
- 62. Liu M, Qin X, Chen Z, et al. Frying Evaluation by a Portable Sensor Based on Dielectric Constant Measurement. *Sensors*. 2019;19(5375):1-11.
- 63. Liu M, Xie S, Ge J, et al. Microfluidic Assessment of Frying Oil Degradation. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6:1-7. doi:10.1038/srep27970